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● (1910)

[Translation]
The Chair (Mr. Joël Lightbound (Louis-Hébert, Lib.)): I call

this meeting to order.

Good morning everyone. Welcome to meeting No. 103 of the
House of Commons Standing Committee on Industry and Technol‐
ogy. Today’s meeting is taking place in a hybrid format in accor‐
dance with the Standing Orders.

Pursuant to the motion adopted on November 7, 2023, the com‐
mittee is resuming its study on the recent investigation and reports
on Sustainable Development Technology Canada..

This evening, we welcome Simon Kennedy, Deputy Minister of
Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada. Thank
you for joining us, Mr. Kennedy.

We also have Mitch Davies, Senior Assistant Deputy Minister,
Strategic Innovation Fund, and Andrew Noseworthy, Assistant
Deputy Minister, Industry Sector.

Mr. Kennedy, you have the floor for five minutes.
Mr. Simon Kennedy (Deputy Minister, Innovation, Science

and Economic Development Canada, Department of Industry):
Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.

[English]

Thanks to the members of the committee for inviting us to speak
on this issue.

I know that members are aware of the timeline of events as
they've been stated at the ETHI committee meetings, but if you will
permit me, it may be helpful for me to use my opening remarks to
contextualize the discussion this evening and emphasize our com‐
mitment to getting to the facts of the matter and taking the neces‐
sary steps to restore confidence in the management of public funds
at SDTC.

[Translation]

As you have heard, in March 2023, upon learning of the serious
allegations made against Sustainable Development Technology
Canada, or SDTC, the Minister of Industry requested that the De‐
partment engage the firm of Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton to
conduct a fact-finding exercise. These were serious allegations that
warranted proper due diligence with next steps that are informed by
an assessment of all evidence.

[English]

The resulting fact-finding was based on a review of documenta‐
tion related to organizational policies and procedures, program gov‐
ernance, the project approval process and select interviews. At its
conclusion, the fact-finding exercise found no clear evidence of de‐
liberate wrongdoing. What it did find, however, were weaknesses
in governance and controls, and instances in which the organization
was not in full compliance with its contribution agreement. For this
reason, SDTC was issued a management action plan with an imple‐
mentation deadline of December 31.

[Translation]

The management response and action plan is comprehensive and
includes measures to ensure there is a clear and consistent process
to declare and document real or perceived conflicts of interest, that
the project approval process is fully compliant with the contribution
agreement as well as enhanced documentation protocols and inter‐
nal controls.

There is also a requirement for SDTC to strengthen reporting re‐
quirements to give Innovation, Science and Economic Develop‐
ment Canada, or ISED, increased oversight over ongoing compli‐
ance.

[English]

Pending satisfactory implementation of the required corrective
measures, all new funding by SDTC has been temporarily suspend‐
ed.

While the management response and action plan specifically ad‐
dress the conclusions of the fact-finding exercise, the department
has also held consultations with the Office of the Auditor General.
The Auditor General has decided to conduct an audit of Sustainable
Development Technology Canada. We're committed to offering our
full co-operation, obviously, and look forward to the AG's final re‐
port.
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Mr. Chair, the Raymond Chabot Grant Thornton fact-finding ex‐
ercise could not directly examine the recent allegations of labour
and employment contraventions, including harassment or abuse by
SDTC management against complainants, due to SDTC's status as
an arm's-length, shared-governance corporation, but in the course
of the work by RCGT, weaknesses were observed. Following dis‐
cussion with the board, SDTC agreed to allow a third party to have
a closer look at these allegations. In that regard, the minister re‐
quested that the Department of Justice appoint a law firm to under‐
take a fact-finding exercise into the allegations and report the find‐
ings to the minister. McCarthy Tétrault was appointed as the legal
agent.

To facilitate the McCarthy Tétrault review, SDTC has agreed to
allow current and former employees to speak freely to the law firm
without violating any applicable settlement agreements or non-dis‐
closure agreements. A fact-finding report will be produced and pre‐
pared in a manner that respects privacy laws.

[Translation]

Committee members, the government is completing its due dili‐
gence, which is an important, necessary, step. Interim control mea‐
sures are in place and the ultimate outcome will be informed by the
Auditor General and the McCarthy Tétrault Human Resources Re‐
view.

[English]

I am hopeful that with the actions being taken we are on the path
to addressing the organizational shortfalls and restoring confidence
in the management of public funds.

I would note that SDTC has played a key role in supporting the
needs of Canada's clean technology companies. If you have a brief
look at the statistics, you can see the results. Investments made by
the organization have been in over 500 companies to date, which
have generated $3.1 billion in annual revenue, created 24,500 jobs
and brought 194 new technologies to market. The estimated reduc‐
tion of greenhouse gas emissions of these technologies is the equiv‐
alent of about seven million cars off the road.

We feel that this organization has played an important role. It's
important that we get the current reviews right so that public confi‐
dence can be restored.

[Translation]

With that, Mr. Chair, I am ready to answer questions.
The Chair: Thank you very much, Mr. Kennedy.

To begin the discussion, I will give the floor to Mr. Perkins for
six minutes.

[English]
Mr. Rick Perkins (South Shore—St. Margarets, CPC): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Kennedy, on September 15, according to SDTC, you called
to suspend the funds. Is that correct?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Mr. Chair, I'm just looking at the chronol‐
ogy. We briefed the minister on the results on September 27—

Mr. Rick Perkins: I understand that, but that wasn't my ques‐
tion. SDTC provided evidence that you phoned on September 15 to
suspend the fund.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I would have to consult my notes. I don't
have the specific date.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Could you get back to us with that?
● (1915)

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Absolutely. That's no problem.
Mr. Rick Perkins: That was 12 days before the minister said

that he was briefed on the Raymond Chabot thing, so you suspend‐
ed the fund before you actually had the final report.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Mr. Chair, I would have to come back to
the committee. That is not my recollection. I'll have to consult the
testimony of SDTC.

Mr. Rick Perkins: You don't believe that you made the call to
suspend the fund before you briefed the minister on the report.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Mr. Chair, we sent SDTC a formal request
with a management action plan, so there was an exchange of corre‐
spondence. I'd have to consult that and get back to the committee,
which I'm happy to do.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Okay. I'd appreciate it if you'd get back to me
on that.

Mr. Davies, when did you serve as an ISED observer on the
SDTC board?

Mr. Mitch Davies (Senior Assistant Deputy Minister, Strate‐
gic Innovation Fund, Department of Industry): Mr. Chair, when
the organization was transferred to our portfolio—

Mr. Rick Perkins: What was the date?
Mr. Mitch Davies: It was in 2016 and into 2017. That is my rec‐

ollection. I don't know the precise dates of—
Mr. Rick Perkins: Was that the only time you were there?
Mr. Mitch Davies: In my memory, yes. It was seven years ago.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Mr. Noseworthy, you took over in 2017. Is

that correct?
Mr. Andrew Noseworthy (Assistant Deputy Minister, Indus‐

try Sector, Department of Industry): Yes, I did, and I continued
to attend meetings until early 2023.

Mr. Rick Perkins: It was early 2023. Okay, thank you.

When chair of the board Annette Verschuren asked for the fast-
tracking of $2.2 million from the mysterious eco green fund of
SDTC in the fall of 2021, were you aware of that at the time?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: I'm sorry, sir, but I'm not sure I un‐
derstand the specific—

Mr. Rick Perkins: Okay, I'll make it simpler.

At meeting number 70 of the board—and you sit on the board—
in January 2022, SDTC rejected Annette Verschuren's request
for $2.2 million from the fund to the Annette Verschuren Centre,
because of a conflict of interest. You must recall that.
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Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: I don't recall a board meeting where
there was a specific discussion about an allocation of funds to the
Verschuren Centre.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Do you recall any board meetings, when you
were in the meeting, where Andrée-Lise Méthot's companies, by
her own admission, got $43 million in loans? There were seven of
them, and here in the committee she admitted that she got a number
of them. Do you recall those meetings?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: I would have to look at the specific
project, sir, to determine what meetings I was attending.

Mr. Rick Perkins: You have amnesia.

Whether it was Andrée-Lise Méthot or Stephen Kukucha or Mr.
Ouimet, they all admitted that they got money outside of the
COVID payments. Did you ever alert your boss, the deputy minis‐
ter or the minister to the fact that they were voting money for their
own companies?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: Sir, my understanding is that all
members of the board followed a fairly rigid conflict of interest
guideline—

Mr. Rick Perkins: That wasn't my question.

Did you alert anyone?
Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: To my knowledge, I am not aware of

any decisions to allocate funds to projects related to board members
where they did not recuse themselves.

Mr. Rick Perkins: I have some SDTC board meeting minutes
here from March 23, 2020 and March 9, 2021, where they issued
themselves special COVID payments. I see you listed as an observ‐
er at both of those meetings. Were you at both of those meetings?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: Yes, I was at both meetings.
Mr. Rick Perkins: You were aware, then, that between the two

meetings, four directors voted themselves $3.7 million in special
COVID payments to companies. These minutes say that they were
unanimously supported.

Those directors admitted here that they did not leave the room
for those votes. In fact, the chair of the board, Annette Verschuren,
who voted herself money, in the ethics committee said that she ac‐
tually moved the motion that the four directors....

Do you recall those meetings?
Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: Yes, I was at both of those meetings.

Sir, in that particular case, the proposition to extend the COVID
payments was made as a blanket proposal across all clients of
SDTC who had active contribution agreements. I do not recall the
specific discussion on any specific project.

Mr. Rick Perkins: In fact, that's not correct, because while they
have said before committee that everyone got 5%, Andrée-Lise
Méthot's companies got 10% COVID bump-ups, and there are
companies in here.... In one case, one of Andrée-Lise Méthot's
companies had 100 months of cash available, so why would they
need a special COVID payment?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: The decision was taken by the board
to apply the COVID payment across all active files. To my knowl‐
edge, I'm not aware of any payments past the 5%.

Mr. Rick Perkins: You are aware that the Conflict of Interest
Act of Canada says that public office holders cannot personally
benefit or vote for things that are their own, and that subsection
16(2) of the SDTC act also says that directors cannot personally
benefit.

In this case, four directors benefited by $3.7 million, and you
didn't alert anyone in the department to it....

● (1920)

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: Sir, I was not aware that there was an
active vote by the organization without the recusal of any board
member who might benefit.

Mr. Rick Perkins: What's your purpose at the meeting, then?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: My purpose at the meeting, sir, was
to be a liaison with the department. I was there at the invitation—

Mr. Rick Perkins: Deputy, are you aware of any of these pay‐
ments, that they were in conflict and that they voted them‐
selves $3.7 million?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I would say that the first time I became
aware of all of these facts was through the whistle-blower kind of
exercise, so it would have been through the Raymond Chabot re‐
view and the investigation.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Do you think—

The Chair: Thank you very much.

I'm sorry, Mr. Perkins. That's all the time you had.

I'll yield the floor now to MP Gaheer.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer (Mississauga—Malton, Lib.): Thank
you, Chair, and thank you to all the witnesses for making time for
this committee.

My questions are for the ISED officials. We know that SDTC is
an arm's-length organization. Can you explain the work and the col‐
laboration between ISED and SDTC? Also, has it been that way
since SDTC was founded in, I think, the early 2000s?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: SDTC is what is technically called a
“shared-governance” corporation. There is a board, the majority of
which is not appointed by the Governor in Council, but there is a
minority—7 of the 15 members—appointed by the Governor in
Council.

ISED has a role in helping to identify, as an example, prospective
members of the board who would be appointed by the GIC. That's
one area where the department intersects directly with SDTC. The
other is obviously that the government has a contribution agree‐
ment with SDTC to deliver the programming that the government
has asked that organization to deliver. We are the custodian of that
agreement. It's like a contract, and we manage this agreement with
SDTC.
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We have an interest in ensuring that they're staying within the
bounds of the contribution agreement, and there have been a num‐
ber of contribution agreements over the 20 years or so of the history
of the organization. When a government provides new money, as
successive governments have done over the years, ISED would pre‐
pare the Treasury Board submission. We would do the work to get
the authorities needed to execute the agreement with SDTC.

I'm just trying to be precise. There are two principal ways in
which we intersect with SDTC. One would be the management of
the contribution agreement, and the second would be through the
government appointees to the board of directors.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: That's great. Thank you.

As an official at ISED, what's your specific role in dealing with
SDTC?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I'm the accounting officer for the ISED
ministry and the deputy minister. I have general managerial over‐
sight of the department, its budget and its personnel.

Perhaps the best way to explain it would be that I manage the or‐
ganization, and I have staff who would be responsible, for example,
for preparing the contribution agreement with SDTC, and who
would be invited to attend meetings of the board to provide the
board with information on the government's priorities, making sure
we're respecting the requirements set out by the Treasury Board and
so on. I have the principal responsibility, as the manager of the de‐
partment, of undertaking those functions that intersect with SDTC
and the responsibilities the department would have.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: When were you and the department of
ISED advised or made aware of the allegations made by the whis‐
tle-blower?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Mr. Chair, the ministry was advised, but
my staff.... Certainly, my recollection is that they told me very
rapidly that this was unfolding, because we needed to discuss how
to respond. It was on February 16. We had been approached by a
complainant with a fairly substantial dossier expressing concerns
about events inside the organization and seeking to have the depart‐
ment follow up. That would have been February 16 of this year.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Can you explain the process of going
from hearing from the whistle-blowers to having the third party
firm RCGT conduct a fact-finding exercise?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Effectively, we received the complaint on
February 16. It was a voluminous complaint. I'm just making a fac‐
tual observation. There was a lot of detail in there. It took a bit of
time to digest it and determine what the obvious next steps would
be.

The other thing is that we were aware, because we'd consulted
other colleagues in government, that the complainant had made rep‐
resentations to other organizations. There were conceivably at least
two or three potential leads to pursue in a fact-finding, investigato‐
ry process.

For example, as I mentioned, there is a minority of members who
were appointed by the Governor in Council. Some of the allega‐
tions concern the behaviour of the board and the chair. There was a
question: If there were to be fact-finding, would it be something led
by ISED, or would it be something led, for example, by the Privy

Council Office? They ultimately manage the process for govern‐
ment appointees. We had to do an internal government consultation
to determine who was on first. The judgment was that ISED should
take the baton and do the investigation.

We issued a contract to RCGT on March 17. I should say that the
minister was briefed well prior to that. There was a period between
February 16 and the end of February when we did those internal
consultations and reviewed the documentation. The minister was
briefed in the first week of March. Then we issued a contract to
RCGT on March 17, to execute the fact-finding review.
● (1925)

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Mr. Chair, I'm assuming I'm out of time.
The Chair: Yes. Thank you, Mr. Gaheer. You're almost out of

time.

[Translation]

Mr. Lemire, the floor is yours.
Mr. Sébastien Lemire (Abitibi—Témiscamingue, BQ): Thank

you, Mr. Chair.

Without prejudice, I am not sure that the information given by
my colleague Mr. Perkins matches what we heard from the witness‐
es last week. I am referring specifically to Ms. Méthot. I would be
curious to validate that in the minutes, because it seems to me that
the amounts were not as large. Since we are talking about the repu‐
tation of some people, I think it is something that should not be tak‐
en lightly.

Mr. Kennedy, based on the allegations and subsequent investiga‐
tion reports, SDTC has frozen the approval of new projects and will
deny any new applications until the implementation process is com‐
plete. According to last week’s testimony, it is undeniable that this
suspension has serious consequences for companies operating in
the sustainable technology sector.

How does the government intend to ensure that this situation will
not irreversibly affect development and innovation in the Canadian
environmental technology sector?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Thank you for the question.

I do not have the document in front of me, but I understand that
the minister has already commented on this subject. We are well
aware of the risk of a significant impact on businesses in the field
of environmental technologies, and we are looking at how we
should solve this problem.

The minister has made it clear that we will review the results of
ongoing investigations and take action. However, at the same time,
we do not want to create problems for businesses.

We are studying the solutions now. I am not in a position to dis‐
cuss the decisions, it is up to the government, but I would like to
say for the record that we are well aware of this risk and that we are
looking at ways to resolve that. Those are my comments for now.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: What do you think are the biggest conse‐
quences the suspension can have on the new technology sector in
the short and long term?
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Can this result in companies losing expertise, contracts, or intel‐
lectual property, and being bought out?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Frankly, we do not want those negative
impacts. So we are now working on this issue, and our goal is cer‐
tainly not to create problems for the sector. However, we under‐
stand that there is a risk and that if we continue for several months
without providing any funds, it could become a problem. We are
aware of that and we will try to take action to solve this problem.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: What new measures or directions does
the government plan to put in place before resuming project ap‐
proval at SDTC? What kind of transition period do you have? Do
you have a timeline?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: As a public servant, I have to let the min‐
ister make the decision. I can only tell you that there are solutions
to allow for investigations to continue while providing funds. We
are looking into that now.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: I am still concerned. I would like to
know how the department intends to restore the confidence of busi‐
nesses, innovators and the public in the integrity of SDTC’s man‐
agement. Are there any communication and transparency initiatives
in place for that?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Mr. Speaker, we are also concerned about
the confidence of businesses and Canadians in the management of
public funds. Right now we are doing an analysis of SDTC’s re‐
sponse to the action plan that we submitted to them to see if that is
sufficient.

We are also looking at the board of directors, as some seats are
vacant. We may appoint new members. We look forward to Mc‐
Carthy Tétrault’s review. Our goal is to take the necessary steps to
restore—I do not know exactly how to explain this—business con‐
fidence.
● (1930)

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: In your opinion, has an operation of this
magnitude already been done in the oil sector, where investment
funds and the credibility of these funds are questioned?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I do not think I fully understand the ques‐
tion.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Is this type of witch hunt specific to the
new technology sector? Is that already being done in the oil indus‐
try, which is heavily subsidized?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: This is the first time since I am with the
department that we have seen an investigation and issues like that.
We take that very seriously. We do not want to repeat that or repeat
it in other areas. I will stop there.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: It reminds me a little bit of what we
have already experienced in this committee, especially when we
studied the Fox project and Rogers' takeover of Shaw. I think you
were present at that study. It seems to me that there are a lot of sim‐
ilarities. There may be companies that benefit from seeing this type
of fund sink.

My final question is, who is responsible for informing clean-tech
companies of the approval suspension, and ensuring the continuity
of these organizations during the transition?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Certainly SDTC has a relationship with
businesses. In this case, communications were ongoing with these
companies and are still ongoing. Clearly, Innovation, Science and
Economic Development Canada also has some responsibility, be‐
cause we are the lead department. We will clearly communicate the
decisions that will be made. Those are the next steps.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Thank you very much.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. MacGregor, the floor is yours.

[English]

Mr. Alistair MacGregor (Cowichan—Malahat—Langford,
NDP): Thank you very much, Mr. Chair, and thank you to the wit‐
nesses for being here today.

I'm here today replacing our regular member on this committee,
Mr. Brian Masse. I understand that when the minister appeared be‐
fore the committee, Mr. Masse asked him about extending employ‐
ment opportunities to the employees of SDTC who have come for‐
ward.

He was wondering if I could ask you whether the department has
begun that process and what the outlines and expectations of that
process might be to ensure that those employees are protected.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I don't think I can go further than the min‐
ister's answer with regard to that specific question, but I would say
that there have been, since that time, steps taken with the board to
put in place this independent legal review and, as part of that, to en‐
sure that employees or former employees who wish to come for‐
ward will have the potential liability they might otherwise accrue
be waived. That's a formal process that has been put in place in
writing, and it will have legal standing.

There have been steps taken to ensure that those who wish to ex‐
press concerns will be able to do so without attracting liability and
be safeguarded from those kinds of issues.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you for that.

As members of Parliament, we're often in reactive mode to what
our constituents bring to us, and I think your department is now
generally in reactive mode to these allegations coming forward.

The review by RCGT identified a number of instances where
SDTC was not in compliance with its contribution agreement with
ISED.

I guess what I want to know is, in trying to learn a lesson from
this and find ways of being proactive, have you identified other sit‐
uations in other contribution agreements where this potential may
exist? What lessons are you taking from this?
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I understand that you're waiting for a full review, but surely you
must be taking this and saying that there could potentially be other
troubles out there. What are you proactively doing to make sure
that other contribution agreements are in compliance?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: It is a question that certainly I've asked as
the deputy minister, and it's a good question to ask in a situation
like this.

I'll mention a couple of things. One is that in carefully reviewing
the results of the RCGT report, the department did formulate a fair‐
ly detailed management response and action plan, which we've giv‐
en to SDTC. I would say that's part of the response to your question
in the sense that we've looked through all the concerns that have
been raised by RCGT and asked ourselves questions: How can the
organization directly address these issues? Are there things that can
be done differently? For example, can we strengthen some of the
language in the contribution agreement to make sure that some of
those issues are dealt with?

I would say that in the constellation of organizations that ISED
supports, SDTC is somewhat unusual in the sense that it's a shared-
governance corporation. For example, with a lot of the organiza‐
tions we support, we have a contribution agreement. The funds go
to an organization for a specific purpose. In this case, though, the
organization is for all intents and purposes in the private sector and
is sort of at arm's length. The board makes most of the decisions.
The board decides how to spend the money and so on.

The contribution agreements that we have with other organiza‐
tions aren't necessarily directly analogous, but we still think it's a
good question to ask whether there are things we can be learning
more generally for the other contribution agreements we have. We
are certainly undertaking that work now.
● (1935)

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you for that.

There's been much conversation about SDTC's conflict of inter‐
est policy. I won't go into detail on it. I think we've covered that
quite consistently here. You're aware of the issues that members of
Parliament have.

Have other independent agencies had this same problem with a
conflict of interest policy? This is similar to the question I just
asked you, but are you proactively identifying those and putting to‐
gether an action plan on how you could evaluate those and so on?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I would say conflict of interest is some‐
thing that we take very seriously, in particular with organizations
that have either a board or an advisory board that is meant to have
expert individuals on it. In the case of SDTC—by statute, actual‐
ly—part of the design of the board is to have people who are
knowledgeable.

There's always a risk, given that, for example, the clean-tech sec‐
tor is relatively small. Canada is a relatively small economy, rela‐
tive to some of our peers. There's always going to be a risk, when
you have experts from the sector on a board, that you're going to
run into conflicts. That makes conflict management really, really
critical. That's been my experience in government, in multiple jobs.
It means documentation, having minutes, carefully enumerating
things and so on.

I would say that one of the things the RCGT report demonstrated
here was that this was an area that needed to be strengthened. The
management response and action plan makes it quite clear that
more needs to be done in that space. It is an area that's very impor‐
tant. We treat it very seriously across the organizations we deal
with. This is a reminder of the importance of ensuring that these
things are treated very seriously. Frankly, having processes is im‐
portant, but demonstrating the very strong processes and having
very good record-keeping and making sure you're covering all your
bases are important in the public sector context especially, for sure.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kennedy.

Mr. Barrett, the floor is yours for five minutes.
Mr. Michael Barrett (Leeds—Grenville—Thousand Islands

and Rideau Lakes, CPC): Who made the decision to suspend the
funding to SDTC? Was it the minister or you, Mr. Kennedy?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: The minister was quite concerned that we
suspend funding, so I would say the minister asked that that be
done. It's certainly something we supported.

Mr. Michael Barrett: What evidence was used to justify that
suspension? Was it the results of the RCGT report?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Yes, it was the work that RCGT had done,
demonstrating that there were problems in the controls and the pro‐
cesses.

Mr. Michael Barrett: You received those results in May. Is that
correct?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I received the results....

Forgive me. I'm just looking at the chronology. We had been
working with RCGT throughout the months of, I would say, April,
May and June—
● (1940)

Mr. Michael Barrett: While you consult your notes, I'll contin‐
ue, if I could.

You've heard the recordings of your employee, the chief financial
officer for ISED, Mr. McConnachie. He spoke to this issue. He said
that you indeed were in possession of those results in May and that
PCO would need to be informed so that they could brief the Prime
Minister's Office.

The minister came to committee. He said the department acted
immediately, but there's a gap between the suspension of funding,
the date that you said was September.... Let's say it was late
September.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: We briefed the minister formally on
September 27.

Mr. Michael Barrett: On what date did you suspend the fund‐
ing?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Maybe I can just elaborate very briefly.

When this process got under way, when the allegations were
made and we had hired RCGT to do this fact-finding report, SDTC
had, to my recollection, just gone through.... They have kind of a
funding cycle. They make awards and then—

Mr. Michael Barrett: Respectfully sir, I really just need a date.
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Mr. Simon Kennedy: It's directly germane to the question.
Mr. Michael Barrett: If you don't have the date.... My time is

very limited.

This is what Mr. McConnachie allegedly said on May 15 this
year: “It's fairly clear that, like, being in receipt of the results of the
fact-finding exercise, like, it's not something we can sleep on. We
can't just go, ah, it's nothing, and sweep it under the carpet. We're
compelled to act.”

You were meant to discuss with the minister the gross misman‐
agement of a fund, of taxpayer dollars, worth $1 billion, and the
conflicts of interest in the management of it. That conversation was
supposed to have happened in early June.

Did the meeting happen in early June?

Answer yes or no, please.
Mr. Simon Kennedy: I'm sorry, Mr. Chair. I can't account for

the comments of my staffer. I don't agree with the comments that
were reported to me. I certainly can't account for what he said.

Mr. Michael Barrett: You don't agree with what you heard him
say, or you don't agree that I repeated what he said.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I can't account for why my staffer said the
things he said. I believe he's spoken already on the record about the
context for that.

Mr. Michael Barrett: He said you had the results. He said the
minister was going to be briefed. Then, there's this big gulf in time
in terms of action. He also said a series of actions were going to be
taken. It seems that his oars were pretty deep in the water on this
thing and that there was going to be a new office responsible for it.
They would have someone, an eminent Canadian, overseeing it. He
made pretty grand overtures about it and said that your department
absolutely believed the concerns that were raised by the whistle-
blowers.

You talk about restoring confidence, and the minister talked
about this in the House today—restoring confidence in the gover‐
nance of this organization. You talked about the good work that the
organization has done. For Canadians to have confidence in this or‐
ganization and its governance, I would say there needs to be an ac‐
counting for the tax dollars that have been misappropriated.

There's now an Auditor General's investigation. Two government
appointees are being investigated by the Conflict of Interest and
Ethics Commissioner. RCGT itself found multiple instances of mis‐
management of public funds outside of the contribution agreement.

Is there a plan to have the misappropriated funds returned? An‐
swer yes or no, please.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I think we're waiting to see the results of
the Auditor General's review. If I could just—

Mr. Michael Barrett: I'm going to ask you a couple of ques‐
tions, and then I'll give you the last 30 seconds of my time to re‐
spond.

Sir, if you haven't prepared a plan for the minister to have the
funds repaid, if the minister hasn't prepared a plan for the funds to
be repaid, I would say that Canadians are going to find themselves
out of pocket and that the insiders who benefited are going to find

their pockets a lot fatter. That's unacceptable to Canadians. They
are not going to be able to have restored confidence in this organi‐
zation.

I have 15 seconds left. I would love to know what the plan is to
have the funds restored.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Mr. Chair, as a public servant, I think
we're bound by the facts and the processes that have been set out.
The Auditor General is doing a review. We look forward to the re‐
sults of the review. We'll take action in accordance with her recom‐
mendations. That's what I would say at this point.

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Kennedy.

Mr. Sorbara, the floor is yours for five minutes.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara (Vaughan—Woodbridge, Lib.):
Thank you, Chair. Thank you, gentlemen.

Mr. Kennedy, obviously your career is quite distinguished within
the department and so forth.

I've heard much about the contribution agreements and the con‐
tribution agreements that are signed. Can you kind of go over what
one could anticipate with the contribution agreements and how
they've been strengthened?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Just by way of illustration, the kinds of
things we wanted to see strengthened at SDTC included updating
the corporations code of practice and conflict of interest policy; up‐
dating the project approval process to basically sharpen up and en‐
sure that the various streams of funding the organization puts out
are fully aligned with the terms and conditions of the contribution
agreement; strengthening the documentation around project recom‐
mendations and approvals; and reviewing and updating the finan‐
cial management processes and so on.

Those give you an illustration of some things that we directed the
organization to do and that we would see updated in the contribu‐
tion agreement to the extent that was required.

There may be some areas where the updating would be in poli‐
cies and procedures. In other words, the contribution agreement
calls to have a policy in place, and we want to see the policy
strengthened. There would be other cases where the change might
be made in the contribution agreement itself.

● (1945)

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: On the contribution agreement, just so
I understand it as well, SDTC is a fund that makes investments in
clean technologies. The contribution agreements would govern the
umbrella or the scope of each of those investments and the agree‐
ment between the government and SDTC.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: The way to think of this would be that
SDTC is a.... There are government-appointed members to the
board, but it's an independent organization with a board, and it ex‐
ists sort of independent of the government.
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The contribution agreement is a contractual arrangement in
which we've agreed to give SDTC money to do certain sorts of
things, and they've agreed to accept it and to actually execute the
contract to the government's satisfaction. The contribution agree‐
ment is a contract with SDTC, effectively.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: This type of agreement would be in
place for other entities that have the same type of agreement or re‐
lationship with the government.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Well, ISED manages hundreds of such
agreements, going back many decades over successive govern‐
ments. This is a particular one with this organization, but contribu‐
tion agreements are a pretty typical tool that are used by govern‐
ment departments to enter into agreements with third parties.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: Okay.

I take it the governance within the contribution agreement with
SDTC has been strengthened or is being strengthened. The gover‐
nance side of it is being strengthened.

Mr. Simon Kennedy: There may be some aspects of gover‐
nance.... I apologize. I want to be as forthright as possible. Maybe
we can come back with something in writing, if we want more pre‐
cision. The governance of SDTC, from a board and corporate point
of view, is actually established in law. There's a piece of legislation
that Parliament has passed. In terms of small-g governance, like the
policies and procedures, the various committees, some of that may
wind up being strengthened in the contribution agreement, but it
wouldn't necessarily touch the board and the higher-level structures
of how the organization operates.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: Anyone can answer this question—
maybe Mr. Noseworthy—in terms of the clean technology space
and how important SDTC has been in Canada for that in terms of
investing in early stage or venture capital, or whatever term you
want to use, in entities in Canada, in companies for clean technolo‐
gy.

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: SDTC has been the government's
principal connection to early-stage companies. You'll find that
many of the companies that get entry-stage funding from SDTC go
on to grow to successful companies and in fact obtain funding later
on, as part of their process of maturation, from programs like the
strategic innovation fund, the Business Development Bank of
Canada, EDC and other programs.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: Are most of the investments done in
SDTC.... I'm just thinking about the capital structure of a firm.
Where do they place in the capital structure? Are they straight
loans, or is it an equity investment? How is it treated?

Mr. Andrew Noseworthy: If my memory serves, they are grants
to the individual companies. In fact, I'm sorry. I'm technically cor‐
rect: They are forgivable loans.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: Okay.

Thank you, gentlemen.
The Chair: We'll turn to Monsieur Lemire.

[Translation]

Go ahead, Mr. Lemire.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Mr. Kennedy, here is part of the state‐
ment issued by SDTC following the Minister’s statement regarding
the Raymond Chabot Grant Thorton report:

The SDTC Board of Directors and leadership team are carefully reviewing the
report and are taking action to implement the recommendations as quickly as
possible to minimize disruption to Canada’s sustainable innovation ecosystem.

Do you know what actions have been taken so far?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: My team and I have had several meetings
with the SDTC management team and the former Chair of the
Board to discuss progress towards the action plan. This plan, which
these people submitted to us in December, a few days ago, is cur‐
rently being analyzed. Our goal is to complete this work in the
coming days.

The SDTC management team has already put forward numerous
measures and submitted the results to the Department, and they
want to know if the Minister is happy to see that what was required
of their organization has been completed.

● (1950)

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Are you considering recommending
more structural changes or governance reforms within SDTC to
avoid such problems in the future? There was agreement that the
COVID environment was exceptional for governance. We wanted
to maintain assets and intellectual property related to new technolo‐
gies on Quebec and Canadian soil.

What would you do differently if another exceptional situation
occurred? What lessons did you learn?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: I would like to make a few comments.
One of the lessons we have learned, I think, is that in the years to
come, even if there is a crisis, people may still ask questions about
what has been done. It is important to maintain proper processes.
That is my explanation. Everything must be well documented, and
reliable data must show that judgment was exercised and that the
processes were in place.

In my opinion, the exercise conducted by Raymond Chabot
Grant Thorton and the action plan demonstrate that there were
weaknesses and that they needed to be addressed. It is as simple as
that, in my opinion.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Thank you very much.

The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. MacGregor, the floor is yours.

[English]

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you, Chair.

Mr. Kennedy, you and your officials here allow us, as a commit‐
tee, to get it from the top of the pyramid from ISED. You do have
great responsibilities in your department. I understand, with all the
reviews that are going on, there is going to be a bit of a waiting pe‐
riod.
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For you personally, as a deputy minister, what is your ultimate
goal from this whole experience? Do you want to see restored pub‐
lic trust in this issue? Do you want to see better understood rules
and processes? Are you hoping there will be better confidence in
the companies that this venture serves? What do you think your ul‐
timate goal is going to be from this whole experience?

Mr. Simon Kennedy: Certainly, a core goal I have as a public
servant serving the government is to try to faithfully execute the re‐
quests of the minister. Those are to get to the facts, to get to the
bottom of things, as he has said; to support the government as we
may be called upon to follow up on the results of the review of Mc‐
Carthy Tétrault and then faithfully execute any changes to the con‐
tribution agreement and the management response and action plan;
and to support any response that is needed from ISED to the Audi‐
tor General's findings when they come out, presumably later in the
year.

Those will be the first things: to make sure we're supporting the
government in its effort to get to the bottom of things and to take
the measures necessary to restore public confidence.

I would just say, more generally, as a senior public servant, that
SDTC is supported by ISED through this contribution agreement.
This is an area where some weaknesses have been shown. Where
it's obviously a file of some public profile, it would be seen to be
exercising diligence in restoring public confidence in the use of
public money. As well, to the extent that there are weaknesses
found, they would be corrected swiftly. I would say it's no more
complicated than that.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

This concludes the time.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Mr. Chair, can I ask a question on a point of
order?

The courtesy in most committees, since we were 10 minutes late
starting because of the vote, is that we extend everything by 10
minutes. I'm wondering, because we still have more questions for
our officials, if we could complete the full hour with officials and
do the hour with—

The Chair: Mr. Perkins, as you are aware, we've had discussions
with the clerk, and we have a hard stop at nine. If we take more
time now, then we have less time for the second hour. I believe we
discussed before the start of this committee that we would have
more time with the second witness for the second hour.

It's up to the committee, really, on that point, but I'll stick to the
agreement that we had before we started, Mr. Perkins, and we'll
suspend.

I want to thank Mr. Davies, Mr. Kennedy and Mr. Noseworthy.
Thanks for being with us tonight.

We will suspend, colleagues, until eight, and we will start at
eight sharp.

Thank you very much. The meeting is suspended.

● (1950)
_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (2000)

● (2000)

The Chair: Dear colleagues, we'll resume, as it is 8:00 p.m.
sharp.

[Translation]

For the next part, we have a witness who, at his request, prefers
that we not mention him by name. I ask you to comply with this
request.

Let us get started now.

[English]

Sir, I will yield the floor to you. Thanks for being with us tonight
at this late hour to share your perspective with this committee. It's
much appreciated.

You have the floor for the next five minutes.
Witness-Témoin 1 (As an Individual): Thank you, Mr. Chair

and honourable members of the committee.

Before I begin, I would like to clarify my intentions. I am not
here to attack SDTC, its workers or the companies it funds. SDTC
plays a critical role in the Canadian economy. I genuinely believe in
its mandate. I can personally attest to how effective the organiza‐
tion is at utilizing taxpayer money to create jobs and develop new
industries. The organization needs to survive. The employees work‐
ing there need to be protected, because empowering those SDTC
employees is crucial for the successful delivery of its mandate.

The only way to get SDTC back on track is to discuss the facts
and set the record straight. I believe accountability is the corner‐
stone of a just society. That's the sole purpose of my presence here.
The SDTC board, executives and senior management must be held
accountable for their gross mismanagement of taxpayer money and
the gross misconduct that's been perpetrated by the toxic senior
management team, which has victimized countless employees. The
federal government must also be held accountable for the embar‐
rassing lack of oversight that has allowed these problems to persist
and the egregious cover-up of the truth that occurred this fall.

At the beginning of this year, a comprehensive, 345-page presen‐
tation was created and submitted to the Privy Council Office at the
request of the Office of the Auditor General of Canada, whom we
originally went to. This package contained documents that outlined
gross mismanagement across every aspect of SDTC's operations
and governance. It highlighted non-compliance with the SDTC act
and contribution agreement across all of the organization's funding
streams, and serious breaches of the conflict of interest policies by
the executives and board.

The package also included evidence of the toxic workplace cul‐
ture that was created by the CEO, Leah Lawrence, and her friend
and still current VP, Zoë Kolbuc, who have been allowed to contin‐
ue abusing and harassing employees by a passive senior manage‐
ment team and board that protect and hide the abuse.
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All this information underwent review by PCO and was then for‐
warded to ISED, which subsequently engaged RCGT to conduct an
independent fact-finding exercise to validate this information. I will
outline the findings for everyone.

The seed fund, ecosystem fund and scale-up fund were all found
to be ineligible due to multiple violations of the contribution agree‐
ment, significant deviations from the due diligence process, and
conflict of interest breaches by board members and executives. This
finding encompasses nearly 200 companies that all received
over $80 million, all of which was improperly funded using taxpay‐
er money.

The two COVID payments in 2020 and 2021 were also given to
the full portfolio of companies. They totalled almost $40 million.
They were also deemed to be ineligible, as the use of these funds
was not effectively tracked. Several board members in that instance
also violated conflict of interest by approving almost $4 million to
themselves—to over a dozen companies in which they all hold sig‐
nificant ownership or executive positions.

The report also revealed that SDTC lacked HR processes or poli‐
cies. Issues were never even reported to the board. Conveniently,
the RCGT investigators couldn't find even a single record of any
complaint ever being made in the history of the organization.

This is a staggering level of incompetence, wilful ignorance and
corruption that has resulted in SDTC improperly distributing al‐
most $150 million in taxpayer dollars just in the past few years, and
abusing dozens of people who have only tried to talk about the
truth.

The organization deserved to be suspended. The organization al‐
so deserved a new board, executive and senior management team,
but that never happened. Not a single one of the individuals respon‐
sible for these issues has faced a single consequence. No executive
or board member was terminated or put even remotely near hand‐
cuffs. Every single person who was directly implicated even had
their name redacted and protected by ISED in the RCGT report.

Even more shocking is the fact that despite these findings, ISED
continues to allow these individuals to manage taxpayer dollars. It
also allows them to continue perpetuating the abuse against em‐
ployees who have been desperately seeking protection from their
own government for over a year. That cannot stand.
● (2005)

The SDTC's board and executive continue to insist that the issues
are just minor inconsistencies, while ISED and the minister contin‐
ue to claim that no findings warrant serious action. These are false
narratives, and I'm here to provide documented proof of all the lies
that continue to be perpetuated by both SDTC and ISED.

I believe that my testimony can provide an in-depth overview of
the key issues at SDTC, because I worked on the financial due dili‐
gence and compliance of projects at SDTC for the key two-year pe‐
riod that coincides with the most serious findings in the RCGT re‐
port.

I am also intimately aware of exactly how ISED understood the
issues, and the clear direction the total bureaucracy had laid out.
The minister and PCO have been aware of this file longer than they

are telling the public. There is documented evidence that they even
engaged with everyone at ISED to make sure there were edits to the
briefings before they were officially sent to them.

All of this is backed up by documents, transcripts and recordings,
some of which we've already submitted to this committee.

Thank you, and I welcome all of your questions.

The Chair: Thank you very much, sir.

To start the discussion, I'll turn it to MP Barrett.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have six minutes, so I'll ask you a ques‐
tion, and I'll give you up to a minute to respond to each. I'll try to
do this in six questions, if I can.

Can you confirm that in your opening statement you said that up
to 150 million in taxpayer dollars have been misappropriated, in
your estimation?

Witness-Témoin 1: That's correct.

Mr. Michael Barrett: How many board members and execu‐
tives were in conflicts of interest and were funding companies in
which they had a financial interest?

Witness-Témoin 1: At least half of them.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Are you able to provide some examples to
the committee?

Witness-Témoin 1: Key examples would include ex-CEO and
ex-chair Annette Verschuren, and Leah Lawrence.

What they've said before is not the full truth, because Annette
Verschuren said that she had never applied for anything at SDTC,
but she in fact applied to SDTC for her Verschuren Centre in 2021
and tried to get funding for that organization, which was ultimately
rejected.

Mr. Michael Barrett: You mentioned you have documented
proof of the things you've said.

Is there any information you have not submitted to the committee
that you would be able to provide to the committee, specifically
with respect to your testimony today?

Witness-Témoin 1: We are willing to provide all the informa‐
tion, under the condition that it's also publicly released.

● (2010)

Mr. Michael Barrett: Okay. Will you be able to forward that to
the clerk?

Witness-Témoin 1: Yes.
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Mr. Michael Barrett: The conflicts of interest that we have
seen, that have been identified with respect to appointees of the
Liberal government, totalled more than $600,000, specifically with
respect to COVID payments to Ms. Verschuren and Mr. Ouimet.

These were not isolated incidents with respect to those COVID
payments. Is that correct?

Witness-Témoin 1: That's correct.

When we're talking about the COVID payments, we need to talk
about two payments that were made. The findings of the RCGT re‐
port didn't just say that the conflict of interest rules were broken.
The report also found that all of the $40 million that was given out
was not even effectively tracked, because anything that was funded
by SDTC had to be tracked for eligible funding. None of that hap‐
pened for either payment, as found by the RCGT report.

Mr. Michael Barrett: How much money flowed to the compa‐
nies that were in conflict of interest?

Witness-Témoin 1: For both of those payments, it would have
been almost $2 million each time, to likely a dozen companies or
more. It's hard for us to really know, because we were not really
made aware of all the conflicts of board members most of the time.

Mr. Michael Barrett: You just heard testimony from ISED offi‐
cials and the deputy minister.

To your knowledge, in their opening statement or in response to
questions from members of this committee, did they mislead or fail
to provide fulsome answers?

Witness-Témoin 1: They did.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Can you provide details of that assess‐

ment?
Witness-Témoin 1: With regard to the ISED situation, ISED

representatives were open and transparent about the investigation
from day one and provided weekly debriefs on the progress. There
was no coercion in any of this.

Here are the real facts of the matter. ISED representatives have
said on multiple occasions that there were no briefings made to the
PCO regarding the situation. This is a lie. We have evidence that
the deputy minister and ADM were in continuous conversations
with the PCO, because the investigation included GIC appointees.
The minister said, on the record and multiple times, that he was
briefed on the outcome only on August 27, but that's definitively
not true. He lied at the ethics committee. The deputy minister spoke
to the minister's office and the minister on several occasions before
the briefings were finalized, including about edits that were made
on behalf of the minister's office.

The real truth of the matter is that there was a definitive consen‐
sus across the bureaucracy at both ISED and the PCO that the full
board and executive team at SDTC needed to be terminated. This
was described to us in detail and on multiple occasions in late Au‐
gust and September. The outcome of this situation changed only
when the minister's office became involved. He is ultimately re‐
sponsible for SDTC. He is the one who needs to tell the truth about
what the real situation is.

With regard to some of this, we have already submitted clips and
transcripts from September 1 and September 29 that provide all the

detailed information. If I have some time, I'd like to go over some
of that.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have 60 seconds.

Witness-Témoin 1: That's enough.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Go ahead, sir.

Witness-Témoin 1: On August 25, this is what was said: “The
overall thematic is kind of where we've come to sort of under‐
stand...as well, which is that there's a lot of sloppiness and laziness,
and there's some outright incompetence, and the situation is...unten‐
able at this point, and that doesn't even include any of the allega‐
tions related to the way in which the place is managed. Just on the
basis of the administration of the agreement, the governance, the
conflict of interest and shoddy management of the COI, the situa‐
tion is untenable.”

On September 1, there was this:
The report implicates the board in terrible ways. By not following process, by
not following the COI regime and by not being prudent fiduciaries, they've
missed out on so many [issues]. It's...a board failure altogether...and this is how
we're briefing it. This is how it's well understood by us and the deputies, and I
think it's understood by PCO as well, because it's not the first time they've seen
this kind of situation.

The final one is on September 29.
Since we last spoke, most of the week, for us, has been involved in finalizing the
briefing to the minister. Obviously, there's been verbal briefs from the deputy to
the chief of staff and to the minister himself, just so he gets a heads-up as to
what's coming, and that's resulted in tweaking to the briefing package and all
that...stuff.

The Chair: Thank you very much.

MP Sorbara, the floor is yours.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Welcome, sir, to the committee this evening.

As someone who came from the private sector before entering
public service, which is obviously very important, and who worked
in large organizations dealing with human resources—and the
structure of an organization having the ability to deal with human
resources—I think it is very important to raise concerns about a
spectrum of things. It's everything from how you are being treated
as an employee to the internal processes of an organization in terms
of how financial matters are handled. Obviously, you raised certain
concerns and so forth.

My question is, first of all, about the internal process at SDTC
that you were able to follow or pursue.

Can you speak about that? How were the issues handled internal‐
ly, and how did you raise them? What was the reception, and so
forth?

● (2015)

Witness-Témoin 1: Is this related to HR complaints, or to the
funding?

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: It's related to both tangents, if I may.
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Witness-Témoin 1: With regard to HR policies, it's not just that
there was massive turnover at the employee level. Within a two-
year period, every single HR director, which was almost four, either
was fired or went on stress leave. Even when complaints were be‐
ing made, every single one of the employees who were then tasked
with dealing with them, if they actually took it seriously, would be
pushed out or fired. Every single one of them was put under an
NDA that specifically had language that prevented them from even
going to the federal government to complain about the issues that
were ongoing.

As it relates to the organization as a whole, the culture of fear is
there, and it's existed for a long time. Even when people have the
strength and courage to take those issues to someone, every single
time it's been hammered down because of people like Leah
Lawrence, Zoë Kolbuc and the whole organization at the top senior
level management.

With regard to the funding issues, all the issues that were found
by RCGT were noted by employees on multiple occasions. There
are emails we can provide where we and others also had issues that
were sent to executives and even to the CEO.

An example of that would be the Verschuren Centre application.
That is related to the ecosystem fund. The ecosystem fund, which
has been found by RCGT to not be in any way eligible, was ap‐
proved by the board without any consultation with ISED. When it
was approved by the board itself, the first project, second project
and third project were all related to board members and had con‐
flicts. The second one specifically was the Verschuren Centre appli‐
cation. Employees complained multiple times, even by email to ex‐
ecutives, that this was an obvious conflict of interest, yet not a sin‐
gle one of those issues was heard by executives. We were continu‐
ally ignored up until it went to the board and other board members
finally admitted this was an obvious conflict of interest.

Even after it was rejected, the executives then forced employees
to personally go to other federal or provincial funding organizations
and use SDTC's reputation to see whether they would be willing to
give the Verschuren Centre funding.

Even when something doesn't get approved, there's still employ‐
ee pressure from the executive team to make sure some of these
things happen.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: To put it on the record, when you men‐
tioned the term “NDAs”, you were talking about non-disclosure
agreements.

Witness-Témoin 1: That's correct.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: It sounds like you and many other
folks did raise issues. How long would you say it took either for the
board members or for internal processes to kick in whereby these
concerns were listened to or heard and it was accepted that they
were serious, from your point of view?

Witness-Témoin 1: They were never taken seriously, and they
were always swept under the rug.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: My final question is in terms of the ac‐
tual functioning of SDTC.

In Canada, we have a tech ecosystem. Our levels of capital are
robust, but not as robust as south of the border, with the many in‐
vestors, private equity funds and so forth that exist in the United
States. SDTC, in my view, fulfills a specific role and a very impor‐
tant one.

Would you concur that the intent of SDTC is to fulfill that role in
investing, on a non-repayable grant basis, in companies in Canada
that are clean tech, potentially have a very bright future, and could
turn into larger entities and create a whole ecosystem themselves?

● (2020)

Witness-Témoin 1: How much time do I have to respond?

The Chair: You have about 40 seconds.

Witness-Témoin 1: I do agree with that. The issues we're talking
about here aren't related to that mandate.

I agree that the grants themselves are not a problem, and the ma‐
jority of companies deserve it.

One issue we're talking about here in the RCGT report was also
related to the scale-up fund. On average, SDTC provides $2 million
to $3 million to companies, but within the scale-up fund, it's al‐
most $20 million per company. These are companies that are fully
commercial; they have major investments in the hundreds of mil‐
lions of dollars, and they're big enough that they're buying up other
companies, yet, because they're connected to different executives or
board members, they're getting that funding.

Mr. Francesco Sorbara: If I could interject.... I have only about
10 or 15 seconds left.

Do you have a timeline? You were there for two years, I believe,
from what it sounds like—

The Chair: Mr. Sorbara, I'm afraid you're out of time, so we'll
leave it here.

[Translation]

Mr. Lemire, you have the floor.

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

First of all, sir, I would like to know the reasons why you have
come to testify today.

[English]

Witness-Témoin 1: I want to show accountability.

[Translation]

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Therefore, I would ask you to tell us
why you are a credible witness. Why should we believe your testi‐
mony?

[English]

Witness-Témoin 1: It's because I'm not a disgruntled employee.
I left SDTC of my own accord, and I'm one of the rare few employ‐
ees who wasn't fired or given an NDA.
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I can also provide evidence and documentation showing that
even when I provided my resignation, I was offered a promotion
and more money to stay at SDTC, because throughout the two
years I was there, I was a high performer. I received all of that in
writing, and I can also provide it.

I also worked on every single one of these funds: the seed fund,
the ecosystem fund, the skill fund and the regular tech fund.

Being on the financial side, I got to see every single aspect of
these projects and more importantly of the financial compliance.
We knew exactly what the rules were because we were dealing with
the rules there, and we could see where the deviations were,
whether they were slight or major.

That's why I believe I'm a credible witness. I'm not a disgruntled
employee, as SDTC continues to state about other people. I'm not
under an NDA, so I have chosen to come here by my own choice,
taking all those risks.
[Translation]

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: In your opening remarks and in the an‐
swers to the questions that were asked, you often used the term
“we”. Who is “we”?
[English]

Witness-Témoin 1: That includes current and former employ‐
ees. This would be between 20 and 30, half on the inside and half
on the outside. Again, the majority of ex-employees were not fired
for cause. Every single one of them was given a package with the
stipulation that for them to receive the package, they would have to
sign an NDA.

On the inside, you can clearly see that a major culture of fear still
persists. Although the CEO is gone, all of the friends she's hired in
the executive seats, like Zoë Kolbuc or Steven Engel, and all of the
other passive bystanders who continue to perpetuate these issues
still exist. It's very hard to get a lot of people willing to come to
these situations.
[Translation]

Mr. Sébastien Lemire: According to a November 1 Radio-
Canada article, a whistle-blower felt that the government had made
a series of false promises to you and had instead sought to mini‐
mize the consequences of your complaint. The word “your” is used
in the collective sense, I understand.

Can you explain what are the broken promises referred to in the
article?
[English]

Witness-Témoin 1: I think the most major one has to be the pro‐
tection of employees. The minister stated that as soon as this report
was completed, they started this HR investigation. That's a lie.

Since day one, we made sure the HR issues were noted, because
those are the most important aspect of the investigation. How can
you properly investigate, when employees aren't being protected on
the inside? They've known about the culture issues from day one,
and those were proven to them even in May.

The most egregious thing that happened during ISED's investiga‐
tion had to be that in September, while they were still investigating,

another employee was fired by Leah Lawrence, and then nothing
was done to protect this employee. That was during the ISED in‐
vestigation. ISED was unwilling to stand up and stop that.

This employee was put under the same sort of NDA that every
other employee has had to deal with, so ISED knew about this, but
they were unwilling to do anything to protect employees, just as
they're doing now.

Even the McCarthy Tétrault investigation that they've started has
already broken confidentiality, because the name of every single
person who signs up for it is shown to SDTC executives, and they
can list everyone who's taking this.

The whole HR investigation has been a farce. On the other side,
what we asked was not for everyone to be fired. We asked for prop‐
er investigation, and when all of this was found in May, it was then
suddenly changed. The continued moving of the goalposts hap‐
pened throughout this investigation, and the key issue is that be‐
cause no one was protected, this has continued to lapse.
● (2025)

[Translation]
Mr. Sébastien Lemire: How do you assess the effectiveness of

the whistle-blower protection mechanisms that have been put in
place? Are any adjustments needed to improve them?

Also, with respect to the lack of trust, what specific measures do
you hope to see in order to fix the trust relationship between you
and the government?
[English]

Witness-Témoin 1: Well, with regard to our experience in the
whole situation, I think it's frankly embarrassing. The whole whis‐
tle-blowing process basically proves to us that there's a two-tier
system that exists. If you are a normal, regular Canadian citizen and
you go to your government to complain that, hey, there is wrongdo‐
ing happening, and you risk your career and your professional repu‐
tation, they don't even do anything about it.

This whole fallacy that we were disgruntled and there was some
sort of coercion with all of this happening...none of that's actually
true, because we were patient. How does a fact-finding take seven
months? That's factually incorrect, and they know it, because that
turned into an investigation by June, and they continued to do it.
What I find disgusting about this is that they continue to deny even
the most basic level of truth.

When you talk about whistle-blowing, they never protected any‐
one, so for everyone who went to ISED as it relates to this, the
thing they were definitive about was that you are not going to be
protected from the federal government if anything happens from
the backlash that would come from the SDTC executives or board
members toward these employees.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you.
[English]

Mr. MacGregor.
Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Thank you for being here today, sir.

Before I got into elected office, I worked for a few different com‐
panies, and I've seen different managerial cultures. Certainly, there
a great spectrum. At times, poor management can be a result of the
individuals who are there, and at other times it can be a result of the
general culture or ecosystem being poor. If you don't have strong
processes in place, it can allow bad people to do bad things, where‐
as if you have good processes in place, at least you can ensure those
people are following the rules.

I did note in your opening statement that you talked about the
great work that SDTC has done. You do think it's a valuable enter‐
prise and that with some changes it should be able to continue do‐
ing that great work, but when you were talking about the toxic
work culture that exists there, I'm just wondering, could you go into
a little more detail on that? I'm trying to understand. Was that a re‐
sult of the fact that there were bad people there, or was it bad pro‐
cesses, or was it bad people and bad processes that allowed this to
fester?

Witness-Témoin 1: It's both, and the reason for that is that the
bad people don't let the processes come into existence.

Several of the HR people, who were all subsequently fired, tried
to bring in processes. What happens at SDTC, which was again
found in the RCGT report, was that “no processes exist”. They used
to exist. Everything has gone downhill since Leah Lawrence start‐
ed. It was a slow burn, but that's what happened.

When I talk about this, you know, it's sort of like you get rid of
all of the executives one by one. Then you start hiring personal
friends in those executive positions, and then those personal friends
start hiring other personal friends into all of these different organi‐
zations and all of these different parts of that organization. It's taken
a long time to get to the point we're at, but this is where it's gotten
to, because there's never been any accountability for anyone at
SDTC, even at the board level.

There's one thing I want to point out in terms of the gross level
of corruption and governance issues that exist. Simon Kennedy
came here and talked about how at the board level only seven out
of the 15 appointees are GIC. The other eight, of whom a number
are on the HR committees of SDTC, are appointed by what's called
a “member committee” or a “member council”, which is also in the
SDTC act, and which says that the public interest is represented by
these member committees, which are a group of 15 people who are
the ones who appoint the other eight, which is the majority of the
board.

For the last four or five years, that committee is down to only
two people, one of which is SDTC's own internal lawyer, Ed Van‐
denberg. For the last five years, two people have been appointing
the majority of the board, through a basically illegal process. It's
not just that there are governance issues at the bottom. It's also at
the top, and the people who are being brought in, even at the board,
are personal friends of the CEO and other people, because there
isn't a single level of oversight across this.

Again, even this issue was brought up to ISED, and they've un‐
derstood it, but they've chosen not to act, even though clearly this is
someone or a group of people who are breaking the law, because

how is it that you're allowing people who've illegally been appoint‐
ed to the board of SDTC to then be making decisions on taxpayer
dollars in the millions every single day? It's across the board.

● (2030)

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you for that detail.

On one of the other things—I'm here replacing my colleague Mr.
Masse—you touched on this with another question, but just on pro‐
tection for employees, on making sure that we have the protection
of law and a safe space for people to come forward like this, can
you offer any more comments to this committee on what our possi‐
ble recommendations on that could be?

Witness-Témoin 1: There are lots of recommendations. I think
the main one has to be that the federal government needs to provide
an outlet to enable all these employees to go into the federal ser‐
vice. That is the key thing that needs to happen, because, even to
this day, with this investigation that's happening on the HR side,
there are people who have been abused for so long that it's almost
impossible for them to trust the situation, especially when you con‐
sider how ISED botched this right at the end.

All of the trust that existed is completely gone. Even with this
McCarthy Tétrault investigation, no one really believes it's going to
go anywhere, but that's the only choice everyone has. They're going
to try to see if it goes anywhere, but what needs to really happen is
what Brian Masse said—the federal government needs to provide
employees the opportunity to leave SDTC and go somewhere else.
That's where they can then provide all of the testimony that's re‐
quired. That's the only way you can actually move forward, be‐
cause no one feels safe, even to this day, because the ISED bureau‐
cracy and the minister are unwilling to let them have that safety.

The government is the ultimate power in this situation. SDTC is
funded by taxpayer dollars, 100% from ISED. How can they say
they had no control over HR? How can they say they don't have the
ability to protect employees? This is insanity.

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Is that it, Mr. Chair?

[Translation]
The Chair: Yes, Mr. MacGregor. Thank you very much.

Mr. Perkins, you now have the floor for five minutes.

[English]
Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you for coming.

I want to get into some very specific things. In your opening tes‐
timony you said you worked on the financial analysis of grant pro‐
posals through all of the funds. You mentioned the Verschuren Cen‐
tre, which is in Nova Scotia—Annette Verschuren being the chair
of this board. You said that Annette Verschuren and the Verschuren
Centre applied for funds from the ecosystem fund. Is that correct?

Witness-Témoin 1: That is correct.
Mr. Rick Perkins: On that application, were you involved, with

some of your colleagues, in analyzing it?
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Witness-Témoin 1: Yes.
Mr. Rick Perkins: The ecosystem fund doesn't directly support

green technology companies, does it?
Witness-Témoin 1: No. SDTC's mandate is to directly fund

clean technologies, versus the ecosystem fund, which has been des‐
ignated by the board to indirectly fund companies or organizations
that help clean-technology companies.

Mr. Rick Perkins: The Verschuren Centre in Cape Breton, Nova
Scotia, is not a clean-tech company. Is that correct?

Witness-Témoin 1: No, it's not.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Okay.

What year did that application or process happen?
● (2035)

Witness-Témoin 1: The application was initiated sometime in
summer 2021. What I want to point out, as it relates to that applica‐
tion, is that the ecosystem fund is not a publicly available fund. As
part of their contribution agreement, you have to provide everyone
the equal opportunity to apply to funding agreements, and to apply
to any of these funds. For the ecosystem fund, that never existed, so
it was brought to us by the executives, who said, “We are now look‐
ing at the Verschuren Centre.”

Mr. Rick Perkins: Did you or any of the employees have any
concerns that funding a centre, an ego project of the chair, might be
a conflict?

Witness-Témoin 1: There were emails sent by multiple employ‐
ees.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Who were they sent to?
Witness-Témoin 1: They were sent to executives at SDTC.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Do you have copies of those?
Witness-Témoin 1: I do.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Would you table those with the committee?
Witness-Témoin 1: I will.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you.

When you went through the analysis, what was the state of the
Annette Verschuren Centre at Cape Breton University at the time,
financially?

Witness-Témoin 1: It would likely have gone bankrupt if it
hadn't received federal funding.

Mr. Rick Perkins: How much was the chair seeking for her ego
project from the green slush fund?

Witness-Témoin 1: She was seeking $2.2 million.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Wow, $2.2 million....

On that process, was the chair ever inquiring as to the state of the
process and how it was going?

Witness-Témoin 1: Yes. She indirectly emailed the executives
or other parts of the organization to check in on the progress of the
application.

Mr. Rick Perkins: She was directly involved in trying to push it
forward with management.

Witness-Témoin 1: Absolutely.

Mr. Rick Perkins: On the analysis from the team that went to
the board, what was the conclusion about whether or not it should
be funded?

Witness-Témoin 1: It was recommended for funding.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Why was it recommended for funding?

Witness-Témoin 1: That's how the organization works. The lev‐
el of due diligence at SDTC is extremely high, but the ultimate au‐
thority on whether projects move forward to the project review
committee is held by executives.

Mr. Rick Perkins: The approving body, ultimately, is the board
itself. Is that right?

Witness-Témoin 1: It's the ultimate approving body, but before
it goes to the board, it has to go to the project review committee,
and before it goes to the project review committee, it has to be
agreed upon by the executives.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Okay, the project review committee reviewed
this....

Witness-Témoin 1: They rejected it based on the conflict of in‐
terest, but they were still in favour of it for its technical—

Mr. Rick Perkins: When it was rejected, were there any com‐
mitments that were made to the board chair as to what employees
would do after that rejection?

Witness-Témoin 1: Yes, they're all included in the board min‐
utes of the project review meeting, where it was clearly stated that
the SDTC employees would help the Verschuren Centre and move
that application into other sources of funding.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Can you table those minutes with the com‐
mittee?

Witness-Témoin 1: Yes.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Let me get this straight. The project review
committee employees were told, after SDTC rejected Annette Ver‐
schuren's $2.2-million request to fund her own centre, that you had
to go to work to help Annette Verschuren find that money some‐
where else in the government.

Witness-Témoin 1: Using SDTC's reputation.... Just for every‐
one's reference, SDTC rejects applications all the time, and it refer‐
ences other organizations if they're not fit. There's an unprecedent‐
ed time here when employees were asked to go and use that SDTC
reputation to go to other places.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Did they do that?

Witness-Témoin 1: They did.

The Chair: I'm sorry, Mr. Perkins; you are out of time.

[Translation]

Ms. Lapointe, you now have the floor for five minutes.

Ms. Viviane Lapointe (Sudbury, Lib.): Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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[English]

Hello, sir. I, too, want to thank you for coming here this evening.
I see that you also took time to prepare your five-minute statement,
and I want to thank you for the time you put into that. It is impor‐
tant for this committee to hear from you.

With reference to that opening statement, I want to make sure
that I have been able to understand in a very accurate way the infor‐
mation you're giving us, so can you clarify the timeline, the
chronology? Because there were so many dates there, I want to
make sure that I've captured it.

Witness-Témoin 1: Is that with relation to the complaint?
Ms. Viviane Lapointe: It's in relation to the overview of the

timelines of the events related to the concerns that you've raised.
Witness-Témoin 1: In terms of all the issues at the organization,

they've been ongoing for years, so that could go back even to 2017
or before.

As it relates to the issues at hand and how the complaints moved
forward, it was initially brought to the Office of the Auditor Gener‐
al in December of last year, and after they reviewed the informa‐
tion, they asked that the information be sent to PCO, and that's
when all of the information was then packaged into the 345-slide
presentation, which, again, included all of the documents and all of
the references to make sure that it was comprehensive—so that it
wasn't just allegations.

After that, PCO passed it off to ISED, and then ISED initiated
the fact-finding in March.

In May, what was told to everyone was that the findings had
been made, so every single issue that ISED had noted to suspend
SDTC in October was founded all the way back to May. They had
been sitting on this for over four months between that time, and this
is when the minister's office initially got involved, because, once it
was mentioned to them, they provided us some indication that,
“These are all of the subsequent investigations.” At that point it was
a fact-finding exercise, so the whole outcome of that was a six-
week review, which, if anything was proven, would then initiate the
required investigations for it, which would be a due process investi‐
gation. That would involve the Office of the Auditor General, re‐
viewing all the HR issues and a review by ISED, because there
were major issues that they found in the compliance agreement on
the contributions side.

All of that was what they said was founded, and they said they
planned to initiate the investigation. Once it got to June, after they
had initiated some of those conversations with the minister's office,
it was suddenly said that they needed more time to fact-check.
● (2040)

Ms. Viviane Lapointe: Who do you mean when you say “they?”
Witness-Témoin 1: They are ISED, senior ISED executives.

When I mention ISED, it's always senior ISED executives.

In June they then said that this was now a smaller-level investi‐
gation. They even stated to us that this was not a fact-finding exer‐
cise anymore, that this was an investigation, and they could provide
details to prove that point.

Ms. Viviane Lapointe: Did they state that to all employees?
Witness-Témoin 1: No, they did not state that to employees.

Again, none of the information as it pertains to the investigation
was ever given directly to SDTC employees, even though ISED
asked SDTC to provide those optics. SDTC executives continually
withheld information regarding the progress of the investigation
and even the initiation of the investigation from employees, until
the media started reporting on it.

Going back to that timeline, once it got to June and July, what
was then said was that they had found that they could not even trust
SDTC executives with the documents, because what RCGT and
ISED were finding was that documents were being changed. There
was a level of mistrust within ISED even on what SDTC was shar‐
ing with them. That's why in July they asked us to provide addition‐
al documents that they were not able to get from SDTC.

In August is when everything changed. That request was then
cancelled. They said they were going to fire all the executives and
board members. It was ISED that began the conversations around
how they were going to fire everyone. Then, in October, they sud‐
denly said, we aren't going to do any of that.

Ms. Viviane Lapointe: Let me understand. When you were
bringing concerns forward, were you doing that through HR or the
next level up?

Witness-Témoin 1: I'm sorry. Do you mean at ISED? I don't
work at SDTC anymore. The whole situation at ISED was an indi‐
rect.... There was no legitimate system in terms of, like.... Because
SDTC's outside of the purview, as they've stated, there isn't even a
process that exists to take these complaints in, which is why it went
from the Office of the Auditor General to PCO and then to ISED.
They had to figure out who dealt with it.

Ms. Viviane Lapointe: Did you have direct interactions with
ISED?

The Chair: Madam Lapointe, I'm sorry.

[Translation]

Mr. Lemire, you have the floor for two and a half minutes.
Mr. Sébastien Lemire: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Thank you again for being here, sir.

Last week, Mr. Kukucha told us that the internal investigation
process had been followed and that he was committed to it. He stat‐
ed that he received a complaint. Are you, by any chance, the person
who approached Mr. Kukucha under those circumstances?

[English]
Witness-Témoin 1: No.

● (2045)

[Translation]
Mr. Sébastien Lemire: You did not talk about that.

[English]
Witness-Témoin 1: I do have information around that situation.
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[Translation]
Mr. Sébastien Lemire: What can you tell us about these facts or

your experience with him?
[English]

Witness-Témoin 1: The Osler process is something that ISED
themselves were told about when the initial investigation was start‐
ed by ISED. A complaint was made to the board member, Stephen
Kukucha, at the end of January. He stated that they had asked for
information from the whistle-blowers, who were internal employ‐
ees, and that they never received anything. We are willing to pro‐
vide all of the emails around that situation.

What happened was they picked Osler, which is clearly a con‐
flicted law firm that has been used consistently by SDTC to put
people under NDAs. Some of the most significant complaints that
were involved required that NDAs be waived, because how can you
investigate a situation if the people who are pertinent to it are not
even being interviewed?

There was a back-and-forth that happened between employees
and Osler. Once it was decided that Osler was going to investigate,
they mentioned that they were going to use the SDTC ethics policy
as the guiding framework through which the investigation was go‐
ing to happen. However, when the employees mentioned that the
same policy requires disclosure and transparency around what the
investigation is and what the outcomes are going to be, Osler im‐
mediately reneged on that. They then suddenly said that this is actu‐
ally not under the ethics policy, which they themselves had said to
the employees was in place.

Once that happened, it was clear that this was a cover-up. When
ISED started their investigation in March all the way to now,
they've consistently had that same view of it. This whole situation
on SDTC using Osler is clearly made to divert attention and hide
the actual truth.

I know that Osler also provided investigation outcomes. None of
those investigations and issues were even investigated correctly.
What he says is completely false. Again, we are willing to provide
all of those documents. They are unwilling even to tell ISED about
that, but ISED knew about all of those emails back and forth.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Lemire.

Mr. MacGregor, the floor is yours.
[English]

Mr. Alistair MacGregor: Thank you, Chair.

A lot of the focus that I've seen so far at this meeting has been
about what the executive branch of the government is going to be
doing. In other words, we've just had the deputy minister and his
assistants here talking about what they're going to do internally, but
that's all in the executive branch. I want to focus my question more
on what the legislative branch can do. You're seeing part of that in
action right now through a parliamentary committee investigating
this issue, issuing a report with recommendations.

You've been detailing all of the problems as you've experienced
them, and you are in touch with other employees. Looking at the

legislative authorization that SDTC gets through the Canada Foun‐
dation for Sustainable Development Technology, do you think there
is another role for the legislative branch in looking at stronger leg‐
islative guardrails?

Have you ever thought about that part of the question, and would
you have any recommendations for this committee to look at?

Witness-Témoin 1: When we're talking about the SDTC act leg‐
islation, one of the issues that we found was that it seemed like no
one was actually keeping organizations in compliance as it related
to that. The act exists, and when I'm mentioning these committee
members who were illegally being appointed to the board, we still
didn't know who had authority to oversee that issue. It's still not be‐
ing addressed, even though that's a serious issue of governance at
SDTC.

There are obvious rules that already exist for, let's say, board
members. I can read off the federal government's ethics policy,
where it says:

Governor in Council appointees are required to perform their duties in the public
interest. Their personal and professional conduct must be beyond reproach.

I don't think anyone here can actually say that the conduct of the
SDTC board was beyond reproach. On top of that, there's also other
language within that agreement that says:

Public office holders have an obligation to perform their official duties and ar‐
range their private affairs in a manner that will bear the closest public scrutiny,
an obligation that is not fully discharged by simply acting within the law.

That's the other thing. Many board members and executives
come here and say they have done everything right, because they
talked to their own lawyers. That's not good enough when these are
taxpayers' dollars. There's clear language across multiple acts and
across multiple policies the federal government has that clearly
shows that everything that has been done up to now by the execu‐
tive and board members doesn't even meet that minimum threshold.
I think the issue is, even if there's more language that exists, who's
going to actually enforce this? There's no enforcement in any of
this.

Had ISED actually enforced its contribution agreement, none of
this would ever have happened. That's where the issue was. You
can have as many agreements as you want, but if no one's enforcing
anything and no one's overseeing the actual day-to-day functions....
There was even a non-observer board person, but that person was
clearly incompetent and didn't understand what was going on.
● (2050)

[Translation]
The Chair: Thank you.

Mr. Barrett, you have the floor.

[English]
Mr. Michael Barrett: I have five minutes. I'm going to split my

time with Mr. Perkins, so I'll try and get through these questions
quickly, with your help, if I can.

Is there missing context related to the bonuses and the COVID
payments that you can provide us with?
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Witness-Témoin 1: One of the things the committee needs to
understand about the COVID payments is that it wasn't just about
conflict of interest rules being broken. Both of these payments were
done within days of the end of fiscal year 2020-21, and both times
the amount of money that was sent out made a significant impact
on the bonuses that executives got. When on one side board mem‐
bers were getting all of their companies and all of the informa‐
tion.... They were getting all of this funding on one side, and by ap‐
proving this funding, where they broke conflict of interest rules,
they were also giving bonuses to all the executives, who were the
ones who presented that information to the board members.

On top of that, the other issue was that for the second COVID
payment, it just wasn't the COVID situation. SDTC's board mem‐
bers, in the fall of 2020, had already agreed that they were not go‐
ing to make any blanket payments as they had already done. That
was in the board presentation, which, again, we can table. The
SDTC even did a full survey of the total portfolio of SDTC compa‐
nies, which showed that, on average, every single company had
over 14 months of runway, which was more than enough, so they
didn't need any funding. Instead, board members were presented
with another COVID payment, which they then agreed to, and in
this case, board members are coming here saying that the compa‐
nies were desperate; they needed it, and it was a requirement. That's
absolutely false. The companies didn't need it, and the executives
chose to give it to everyone.

Mr. Michael Barrett: I have 30 seconds remaining before I turn
my time over.

The minister said that he continually received evidence. Is that
correct?

Witness-Témoin 1: He did.
Mr. Michael Barrett: Was Simon Kennedy aware of the plan

outlined by Mr. McConnachie in May, and was he at those briefin‐
gs?

Witness-Témoin 1: He was, and he spoke to him directly on
multiple occasions in May and June.

Mr. Michael Barrett: Is that contrary to the testimony that he
gave today?

Witness-Témoin 1: It is.
The Acting Chair (Mr. Michael Barrett): Okay.

I'll turn it over to Mr. Perkins.
Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

I have a question up front.

Will you table—it'll be public on the website as evidence—the
30 hours of tapes that you did with the CFO of ISED, as well as the
pertinent documents?

Witness-Témoin 1: We will table all the information required.
Mr. Rick Perkins: That's great.

I'd like to explore one thing on the COVID payments.

You said that they weren't all supposed to get the same amount,
which is the excuse that's used for voting themselves $3.7 million

over two meetings. Why was that? Why wouldn't they give that to
everybody?

Witness-Témoin 1: I can't say for certain, because I don't know
how the executives thought about it, but what happened in that sec‐
ond COVID payment isn't just that everyone got 5%. There was a
secondary decision made, whereby certain companies that were the
most financially successful were suddenly given 10%. What they
continue to state is that the second COVID payment was, again,
made as it pertains to companies and the whole portfolio of SDTC,
which was having issues with financing and issues with COVID.

However, what actually was happening was that they had infor‐
mation that clearly showed that companies had long enough run‐
ways that no financing was required, yet they then created new cri‐
teria that gave them an additional 10% instead of the 5% that every‐
one had, and that included board-member companies.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Those would be companies like Mine‐
Sense—which Andrée-Lise Méthot has a financial interest in—
which got 10%.

Witness-Témoin 1: That's correct.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Did you and did the team do an analysis of
these companies, of whether or not they actually needed any
COVID relief cash?

Witness-Témoin 1: There was analysis done on both the fund‐
ing requirements, but even more, there was also analysis done—
which the executives wanted employees to do—that was related to
the contribution agreement. By this point, there were enough feder‐
al programs that existed that companies were actually being over‐
funded to the point where they were breaking the eligibility of what
their funding requirements are.

● (2055)

Mr. Rick Perkins: For example, MineSense, which got a 10%
bump-up, had 100 months of cash available, at the time of the anal‐
ysis, I think, so it didn't actually need any cash to get through
COVID.

Witness-Témoin 1: It didn't.

Mr. Rick Perkins: There are other companies like that, then—
that directors have a financial interest in—that had excess cash but
still got cash.

Witness-Témoin 1: That's correct.

Mr. Rick Perkins: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Are we done?

The Chair: We have one last round, with MP Gaheer, for five
minutes.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

If the witness could answer this very succinctly, because the time
is obviously limited, that would be great.

If an organization seeks to get funding.... Can you just quickly
walk us through the process of what the steps are, from seeking that
funding to approval?
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Witness-Témoin 1: To get funding, you can submit or reach out
through SDTC's website. SDTC has a continuous intake function
whereby you can apply, and then there is a structured process that
reviews the application on multiple lines of inquiry before it, then,
officially takes it into a full due diligence.

The full process from application to potential approval is several
months, at minimum.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Would you just walk us through what the
due diligence step involves?

Witness-Témoin 1: There are different due diligence steps, de‐
pending on the fund. That's one of the findings of RCGT's report.
The regular and required due diligence process has governance
functions in it. Once a project is taken into full due diligence, it
provides hundreds of documents related to its financials and its
technicals, and all of that is reviewed by multiple employees. You
also have to get external third party experts on the business and
technical side, all of whom then have to provide a recommendation,
which is what's used to take the company to the board.

Now, within the ecosystem fund and the seed fund, none of that
happens, and that's one of the findings that has shown that all of
this process has been completely deviated from, because we're not
even following the most basic level of due diligence for certain
funds.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Once the board grants the approval, is
that it, or are there more steps after that?

Witness-Témoin 1: Once the approval happens, you still have to
review financials and other details and structure it into a contract.
Once the contract is structured, then you sign it. After that, there is
oversight year over year for the funding. It can be anywhere from
three to five years, and there is a minimum requirement of reporting
every 12 months. You have to review the progress before you pro‐
vide the next tranche of funding.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Before a project gets approval from the
board, if there's a conflict of interest, what happens then? What's
the process there?

Witness-Témoin 1: It depends on how the board decides, or
that's what the process was. Up until the findings, how it worked
was that if there was a direct conflict, then a board member would
recuse themselves—again, employees were not aware of these con‐
flicts until the end—versus if it was a perceived conflict, then board
members would decide for themselves whether it was or wasn't.

The key thing to understand here is this: Even if a conflict of in‐
terest exists, what the other findings in RCGT show is that every
single project for the last several years has been unanimously ap‐
proved, with zero dissent. Even if you're leaving the room, and
even if you're not reviewing it and have not involved any of your
opinions, it doesn't matter. Once it gets to the project review com‐
mittee and board, every single project ultimately gets approved.
Again, it's not just that they're breaking conflict of interest; there's
actually proof that they do not review and that they have zero over‐
sight over some of the funding they have provided.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: It seems to me that during this entire
process of organizations seeking funding and getting funding ap‐

proval, with the oversight that happens after they get that approval,
ISED is not really involved in any one of these steps. It seems like
it's concentrated at the board.

Witness-Témoin 1: After approval.... ISED is not involved in
any of this, because even the non-official.... They have no authority
at the board level.

Mr. Iqwinder Gaheer: Okay. I think I'm out of time.

Thank you, Chair.
The Chair: Actually, you still had a minute, but Mr. Perkins

wants it.

I just have a question.

Would you mind telling us, sir, how long you worked at SDTC?
If I understood correctly, it was two years. What years were they?

Witness-Témoin 1: It was across three years: 2020, 2021 and
2022.

The Chair: You mentioned in your testimony that most former
employees of SDTC were under an NDA, but you are not. Is there a
reason you're not?
● (2100)

Witness-Témoin 1: I wasn't fired.
The Chair: Therefore, only those who are fired are under an

NDA; those who just decided not to continue with SDTC are not
under an NDA.

I have one more question, and I think this was asked by Mr.
Lemire. Many times in your testimony, you said, “we”. Can you ex‐
plain to me who “we” is?

Witness-Témoin 1: That's just a representation of the informa‐
tion. I'm representing the larger group of people who are part of this
complaint, because it's current employees and former employees.
That's where the “we” is coming from. That's what I mean by that,
because certain issues aren't directly connected to me.

The Chair: I get it. Thank you very much.

Those were my very simple questions, sir.

That's all the time we have.

Thank you, colleagues, for a well-run meeting.

[Translation]

We were on time and within budget.

Thank you, sir.

Colleagues, see you tomorrow.

Without further ado, I would like to thank the interpreters, the
analyst, our clerk and all the support staff.
● (2105)

The meeting is adjourned.
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